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INTRODUCTION

The story of the MGB embraces four decades; its fate eventually became entangled in politics, and was even discussed inside Whitehall. This book is intended as a companion volume to the author’s previous book MGA – The Revolutionary MG (Crowood, 2019), which covered the context of the post-war MG sports car explosion; anyone who wishes to know how the MGA came about and set the scene for its successor may wish to read the two volumes in tandem. Intended to be the ultimate MGB history, even the most knowledgeable MGB fan will find much new here.

The author has stuck by the term ‘roadster’ for the open MGB, although more formally the preferred corporate term was ‘tourer’. MG employee Geoff Allen once said in a letter to MGB historian Ken Smith, ‘Tourers? Roadsters? Convertibles? We used to refer to open MGs as roadsters in the Rectification Department’, but admitted at the same time that he and his colleagues were often described as a ‘law unto themselves’. As perhaps are sports car drivers and book writers.

The MGB is synonymous with the affordable British sports car, as well known in its field as the Issigonis Mini. For some, the sheer ubiquity of the MGB counts against it; but the truth is inescapable that it was successful with good reason. However, whilst the MGB became the latest in a noble sports car line, from the world’s best-known sports car factory, it also lived so long that it became almost a caricature of itself.

International motor sports became an important part of the MGB (and MGC) story too, notably in North America, where most were sold. Over its lifetime, tastes and expectations evolved, but clever marketing sustained sales even in the face of a younger sports car, supposedly intended to replace it. In the end, the MGB faltered, a victim of corporate neglect, but it took a lot to finally kill it.


SPEECH BY SYD ENEVER FOR THE PRESS LAUNCH OF THE MGB IN JUNE 1962

 

Our aim is to give Sports car motoring to as many people as possible, and to give it them at the right price. We do not want to make a small quantity of high priced, specialized cars for the few. At the same time we set out to provide the fastest possible car, combined with the greatest possible degree of safety. The MGB was evolved with these intentions, and in this car, although the ride is much softer, we have good controllability and with no vices under extreme conditions. Similar to the MGA, the MGB is extremely robust; this is a most important feature to the occupants at critical times. As needed in a fast car the braking is powerful and smooth. With regards to performance we have fitted an 1800 c.c. engine (which gives a torque of 107 ft. lbs.), and we have made use of this to increase the acceleration and general performance, and not to increase the top speed, which is quite sufficient. As regards bodywork, we hope you will approve its clean lines. Although this car is three inches shorter than the MGA, we have arranged for much more room in the cockpit. The cockpit is amply upholstered in real leather, with comfortable diaphragm seating. The backs of the seats are adjustable for rake to enable the owner to choose his best position for control and comfort. In this car we now have a considerable amount of luggage apace, behind the seats and in the boot. You have easy wind-up windows, also with side ventilators, there is also separate fresh air ventilation at the centre of the cockpit. As you know, the MGA was a highly successful car, and the MGB should be more so.
(Courtesy of the Enever family)




The proud father of the MGB, Syd Enever, in the compound at Abingdon.






 

MGB TIMELINE 1958–1992



	November 1955
	John Thornley and Syd Enever of the MG Car Company Limited turn their thoughts to a successor.



	June 1957
	EX205 concept for an MGA replacement with separate chassis.



	11 February 1958
	Pressed Steel Limited record first entry for ‘Project Code 117: MGB Two-seater coupé’.



	7 May 1958
	The Morris Motors Board approves expenditure for ‘New Project: B20 MGB two-seater tools’.



	9 June 1958
	The first drawing for a monocoque-bodied MG roadster ‘EX214’ is completed at Abingdon.



	1 May 1959
	The drawing of what would become more or less the definitive MGB – ‘EX214/12’ – is drawn by Don Hayter; by 8 May 1959 this has become ‘ADO23/54’.



	March 1960
	MGB prototype ‘ADO23/370’ completed.



	19 April 1961
	Pressed Steel MGB body drawing is recorded.



	July 1961
	MGB Prototypes ‘No. 2’ and ‘No. 3’ with conventional live rear axles. Meanwhile, Roy Brocklehurst becomes MG Project Engineer. Three years later he will become Assistant Chief Engineer to Enever.



	26 July 1961
	Drawing completed by Don Hayter for the revised MGB with conventional leaf sprung rear suspension.



	14 May 1962
	The last MGA 1600 Mark II Roadster, Chassis No. 109070 starts assembly and leaves the production line on 7 June 1962, marking a total of 101,081 MGAs built.



	22 May 1962
	First production MGB, a left-hand-drive Iris Blue car, GHN3-102, is built. A total of 12 production cars is built in May (including a single right-hand-drive car – GHN3-101) and production builds up for the September launch.



	June 1962
	‘Advanced news’ brochures sent to selected customers giving information on the MGB ahead of its launch.



	19 September 1962
	ADO23 MG MGB formally unveiled. MGB features new 1798cc version of the ‘B’ series engine.



	4 October 1962
	Paris salon (Motor Show) sees world motor show debut of the MGB Roadster.



	17 October 1962
	Earls Court Motor UK Show debut of the MGB Roadster, alongside MG1100 and upgrades to the Sprite/Midget range.



	23 March 1963
	MGB debut at Sebring 12-hours race (for details of subsequent years, see Chapter Twelve).



	4 April 1963
	MGB assembly begins in Australia.



	15–16 June 1963
	MGB debut at Le Mans 24-hours race, with special aerodynamic nose cone.



	15 January 1964
	Jacques Coune shows his MGB Berlinette Coupé at the 1964 Brussels Motor Show.



	February 1964
	An MGB Roadster is shipped to Pininfarina SpA in Turin, Italy, for work on a prototype for what would become the ‘MGB GT’ coupé.



	11 February 1964
	Work begins on ‘EX234’, a potential joint replacement for both the MGB and MG Midget.



	20–21 June 1964
	MGB appears a second time at the annual Le Mans 24-hours race.



	October 1964
	MGB B-Series engine now benefits from five main bearings instead of three; meanwhile work is under way at Longbridge to explore potential of a 2-litre B-Series engine.



	19–20 June 1965
	MGB appears for the third and final time at the Le Mans 24-hours race.



	25 October 1965
	A day after its formal launch, the MGB GT appears at the Earls Court Motor Show in London. The BMC display includes a sectioned MGB GT on an animated stand.



	9 April 1966
	The MGB/GT appears at the tenth international New York Motor Show at the Coliseum; the split car on its stand is one of the star attractions of the show.



	
3 November 1966
	Assembly of pre-production MGC ‘GCN1 0101G’ begins at Abingdon, barely two months after the Healey’s reject BMC’s proposed Austin Healey 3000 Mk. IV equivalent. 13 pre-production cars built for development and testing.



	14 May 1967
	The first lightweight MGC GT races at the Targa Florio in Sicily – as a prototype with a B-Series 4-cylinder engine.



	18 October 1967
	The MGC and MGB Mark II, formally announced on 15 October 1967, appear at the Earls Court Motor Show, as does the ADO61 Austin Three-Litre. The following day, BMC announces that Roy Haynes will be joining the Corporation as Styling Director.



	November 1967
	The first US Safety & Emissions compliant models are built at Abingdon, complete with the ‘Abingdon Pillow’ padded dashboards, dual circuit brakes and other mandated changes.



	6 June 1968
	Austin Morris ‘short term and long term sports car review’ meeting at Longbridge leads in due course to the MGB (and Midget) facelifts for the 1970 Model Year.



	15 October 1968
	On the Earls Court Motor Show Press Day (show is open 16–26 October) Sir Donald Stokes issues a statement on future BLMC competition policy; the existing department at Abingdon would continue but it would concentrate its efforts only upon events where there was chance of winning.



	4 August 1969
	MGC production stopped after less than 9,000 cars built. Last car leaves Abingdon on 18 September.



	11 October 1969
	The facelifted MG sports car range with new colours and recessed black grille is announced ahead of its appearance at Earls Court.



	5 November 1969
	Work begins on ADO21, a concept for a mid-engined MGB replacement in coupé form.



	28 September 1970
	The 1971 model year MG sports car range is announced.



	31 October 1970
	Following a pre-emptive announcement in August, ‘Comps’ (the Abingdon Competitions Department) closes after 15 years. The ‘Special Tuning’ operation, started in 1964, continues at Abingdon, with a tiny competition budget.



	4 November 1970
	ADO21 concept model viewed by BLMC management; work stops soon afterwards.



	5 February 1971
	Spen King reports to the Austin Morris Product Planning Committee that the MG marque should be given priority for BLMC sports cars.



	27 May 1971
	250,000th MGB, a ‘Blaze’ MGB GT, is completed at Abingdon. The occasion is marked by a visit from Austin Morris Director George Turnbull. The car is later given away in the USA in a national sweepstake in September.



	May 1971
	Syd Enever – ‘Mr MGB’ – retires from his post as Chief Engineer at Abingdon. Roy Brocklehurst takes over.



	July 1971
	 Austin Morris Styling clay badged as ‘MG Magna’ is selected as the basis of a new Corporate Sports Car – this became the Triumph TR7.



	4 August 1971
	MG at Abingdon begin to build their own MGB GT V8 prototype.



	7 October 1971
	The 1972 MG sports car model range is announced, the facelifted MGB being referred to by the Austin Morris PR office (but nobody else) as the ‘MGB Mark III’.



	October 1971 to February 1972
	Studies ensue on specialist car sourcing within BLMC; by the spring it was being reported that ‘Central Staff were working on the basis that Sports Cars should be the responsibility of the Specialist Car Division although this matter was still under discussion with Mr Turnbull with regard to the involvement of Austin Morris’.



	March 1972
	Rover and Triumph merge under the control of Sir George Farmer as ‘Rover Triumph’. Board comprises seven ex-Rover and five ex-Triumph personnel. They soon begin to fight their corner to become BLMC’s sole source of small to medium sports cars. At the Specialist Cars Division Advisory Board meeting of 7 March 1972 it was announced that ‘Bullet’ (the TR7, and MGB replacement at the time) would be built at Speke rather than Abingdon.



	28 April 1972
	Specialist Cars Division Advisory Board meeting records ‘it was reported that a decision had been made that the MG version of Bullet would be manufactured at Liverpool’.



	27 May to 4 June 1972
	MG ‘SSV1’ experimental safety vehicle, largely designed by Don Hayter and based upon an MGB GT, exhibited at the Transpo 72 and an associated International Vehicle and Highway Safety Conference in Washington, DC (there was a Triumph ‘SSV2’, based on a Triumph Innsbruck saloon, as well).



	August 1972
	1973 model year MGB facelift begins production with reversion to more traditional radiator grille style.



	
September 1972
	Whilst the definitive impact-absorbing polyurethane bumper designs for the MGB are signed off, work is under way at Longbridge to develop a replacement for the B-Series engine, intended for the MGB and Marina replacement (ADO77).



	17 October 1972
	The 1973 Model Year MGB appears at Earls Court.



	6 November 1972
	The final MGB is produced on the line in Australia.



	12 December 1972
	The first production-specification MGB GT V8 starts down the line at Abingdon.



	22 February 1973
	Federal-specification Austin Marina (with 1.8-litre B-Series engine) is launched in the USA. US distributors see a LHD MGB GT V8, but this model is never launched there.



	July 1973
	Roy Brocklehurst transferred to BL Advanced Engineering; Don Hayter becomes de facto Chief Engineer at Abingdon.



	15 August 1973
	The ‘New 125 m.p.h. MGB GT V8’ (ADO75) unveiled to the public.



	September 1973
	So-called ‘Sabrina’ overriders unveiled for the MG Midget, MGB and MGB GT models sold in the USA only. Modest changes for MG range over all.



	Summer 1974
	‘O’ series engine now programmed for MGB and Marina by 1977 model year (i.e. autumn 1976). Within a matter of weeks, this slipped to the 1978 model year.



	16 October 1974
	So-called ‘Rubber bumpers’ for the MG Midget and MGB, MGB GT and MGB GT V8 unveiled at the Earls Court Motor Show (Press Day: 15 October).



	1 January 1975
	MGB GT withdrawn from USA. MGB for USA now has single Stromberg instead of twin SU carburettors. Shortly after (Saturday 18 January 1975) the Triumph TR7 is launched at Boca Raton, Florida.



	18 February 1975
	After the TR7 launch, British Leyland Motors Inc. of Leonia, New Jersey, release a (arguably belated) press release about the 1975 MGB.



	26 February 1975
	ADO71 saloon is launched.



	September 1975
	Endurance testing of prototype ‘O’ series engines in MGB (ADO23/ADO76), ADO71 (Princess) and ADO28/ADO73 (Marina).



	29 December 1975
	British Leyland Motors Inc. press release issued for the ‘1976 MGB’ in the USA.



	19 May 1976
	Triumph TR7 introduced to UK and mainland Europe. Within weeks exports of MGB to mainland Europe cease, and Rover ‘SD1’ (new 3500) is launched.



	June 1976
	Introduction of facelifted ‘1977 Model Year’ MGB range (including MGB GT now for home market sales only). Announced in Motor and Autocar at beginning of August 1976.



	July 1976
	Last series volume production MGB GT V8 cars go down the line at Abingdon.



	January 1977
	Work restarts on Federalizing the ‘O’ series engine for the MGB, now aiming for introduction in 1980.



	1 November 1977
	The Speke Triumph factory (where the TR7 is built) starts a four-month strike.



	July 1978
	Development MGB with ‘O’ series engine presented to BL management. 1.7- and 2.0-litre ‘O’ series engines introduced in revised ‘Princess 2’ range.



	September 1978
	1.7-litre ‘O’ series engine introduced in revised ‘Marina 2’ range after £38 million investment.



	19 September 1978
	MG becomes part of Jaguar Rover Triumph. This lasts until New Year 1980.



	7 April 1979
	Black US market MGB ‘Limited Edition’ (LE) model introduced at New York International Motor Show. Limited to 5,000 cars, price was $8,550, a premium of $600 over a standard MGB.



	12 May 1979
	Triumph TR7 Convertible launched at Los Angeles Auto Expo.



	1 September 1979
	Special weeklong programme of Golden Jubilee celebrations begins at Abingdon to celebrate 50 years of MG cars being built in the town.



	10 September 1979
	‘Black Monday’. Following announcement of the closure of the AEC factory at Park Royal, and amidst Press rumours that MG might be another casualty, BL announce plans to cease production of MG sports cars at Abingdon, to close the car manufacturing facility at Canley (resulting in revised plans for the BL/Honda Bounty to be built at Cowley instead) and the transfer of the TR7 to the Rover SD1 factory at Solihull. Total redundancies amount to 25,000. Workforce to be consulted under what becomes known as the ‘Edwardes Plan’. £1 = $2.2375



	14 October 1979
	Alan Curtis of Aston Martin Lagonda telephones Peter Sprague in the USA and proposes a bid for MG.



	18 October 1979
	The Consortium led by Aston Martin Lagonda announces that they intend making a bid to take over the MG name and factory. £1 = $2.145. (See Chapter Ten for detail of subsequent moves.)



	1 November 1979
	BL workforce accepts Edwardes Plan; 80 per cent actually vote, of which 87.2 per cent in favour of acceptance. Soon afterwards the Longbridge Convenor, Derek ‘Red Robbo’ Robinson, is sacked.



	
12 December 1979
	The last MG Midget goes down the Abingdon production line (a black UK specification car, destined for the Heritage collection) bringing total production to 224,817. On the same day the AML Consortium says that they will present an offer ‘in three weeks’ time’.



	December 1979
	BL briefly flirt with the ‘MG Boxer’ project as a means of providing a low-cost MG offshoot from the Triumph TR7 in order to placate US JRT dealers. Story ‘leaked’ into the press. Idea abandoned early in New Year 1980, and MG transferred back to Austin Morris from JRT.



	20 December 1979
	BL Ltd announces that the British Government has agreed to their recovery plan, which includes a further cash injection of £205 million. Seven days later BL and Honda sign a deal in Tokyo for the ‘Bounty’ joint-venture.



	17 January 1980
	500,000th MGB, a black roadster, built at Abingdon, the occasion marked by a visit by Syd Enever.



	31 March 1980
	Aston Martin meet with BL board and agree terms for a £30 million deal giving them an exclusive worldwide licence to use the MG name and for acquisition of the Abingdon factory.



	25 June 1980
	Aston Martin MGB prototype photographed at AML offices.



	1 July 1980
	Aston Martin announce that nearly half the £30 million has been withdrawn; their last hope is to persuade Japanese and Arab backers to provide £12 million. On the same day, Aston Martin announces that they will be making 100 workers redundant, about a quarter of their workforce.



	9 July 1980
	BL announce that the MG factory will finally close its doors at the end of October. Meanwhile the Morris Ital is launched and Austin Morris and Rover Triumph are merged into ‘Light Medium Cars’ – or LMC. A parallel organization called ‘Cars Commercial’ looks after marketing and product planning side.



	2 October 1980
	The last production specification MGB bodyshell is produced at the Pressed Steel facility at Stratton St Margaret, on the outskirts of Swindon.



	23 October 1980
	Towards the end of the Motor Show, while media attention is concentrated in the new Austin Metro, the last MGB comes off the end of the line at Abingdon.



	24 October 1980
	MG factory at Abingdon closes its doors on 50 years of history. £1 = $2.40.



	26 January 1981
	BL announce the last MGB derivative, the UK-only MGB and MGB GT ‘LE’.



	9 February 1981
	Henry Ford II is presented with the last US specification MGB LE for the Ford Museum. It is important to note that this was not the last US specification MGB – that distinction fell to a white MGB – but rather the last of the black US-only limited edition cars.



	18–24 March 1981
	Auctions at Abingdon of contents of MG factory; 434 buyers for 3,600 lots. Sales realized about £100,000 for BL.



	29 February 1988
	First MGB bodyshell produced at Faringdon.



	20 October 1992
	MG RV8 sports car publicly unveiled by Rover Chairman John Towers on Press Day at the Birmingham Motor Show (open 24 October – 1 November), along with Rover 200 coupé.







The MG factory was opened in 1929; by the time that the MGB arrived, it was effectively an assembly plant bringing in completed bodies, engines and gearbox assemblies and many other pre-manufactured components, but it never lost its magic as the centre of the MG world.




CHAPTER ONE

THE MG LEGACY

In the 1920s Morris Garages was primarily a car retail and servicing business in the heart of Oxford, separate from founder William Morris’s eponymous car-making business at Cowley. Under the management of Cecil Kimber, a new sales manager who arrived in 1921, Morris Garages dabbled in ‘customizing’ Cowley-built cars, before gradually progressing to building brand new cars from a combination of standard Morris and bought-in or bespoke components.

The world-famous octagonal ‘MG’ logo first appeared in Morris Garages advertising in 1923, and next year the badge was registered as a trademark. There has long been debate on what constitutes the first ‘proper’ MG, but before long MG emerged as a marque in its own right, ‘MG Midget’ becoming virtually synonymous with the British light sports car genre. From that point, whilst various MG saloons and coupés played their part, it was the sports cars for which the company really became known and is best remembered. This book does not delve into early MG history; for those who are interested, the author addressed the post-war story in his companion volume MGA – the Revolutionary MG.




Heritage has always been important to MG, hence the juxtaposition of ‘Old Number One’ and an MGB Roadster in this early advertisement for the latter.



Any dispassionate analysis will confirm that the first postwar MG sports cars were basically reheated pre-war vehicles, but exports to North America soon came to dominate focus. The first new post-war MGs still retained the upright pre-war style with separate wings (‘fenders’) and running boards, chrome-cased headlamps mounted outboard of upright rectangular MG grilles, and narrow-gutted coachwork, still built in time-honoured fashion, with ash body frames dressed with metal panelling. However, as the 1940s slid into the 1950s, commercial expediency and technology all started to detract from those outmoded design tropes; even if much of the focus for British carmakers was simply cranking up their output and sending it for export, the pressure for change could not be ignored.

Tastes and performance expectations were changing in a bright new decade where sleeker new styles were emerging; with better roads and traffic speeds on the rise, the MG sports car also needed to undergo a revolution. The story of that radical transition is told in MGA – the Revolutionary MG. The MG Series MGA, to give it its proper name, arrived on the market in September 1955 and went on to sell in numbers that were just as revolutionary as its appearance, with well over 110,000 being sold before it was finally replaced by the subject of this book.




The aerodynamic MGA was truly a revolutionary step from the classic MG sports car ‘square-rigger’ style.



The replacement marked another revolution in sports car terms, although the styling was less of a shock in comparison to what had happened in 1955. At launch, the new MG sports car was marketed by its proud creators as the ‘Superlative MGB’, which for many years would hold the title of the world’s best-selling sports car.


THE DREAM TEAM: JOHN THORNLEY AND SYD ENEVER

 

In MG’s history a handful of individuals have warranted the title ‘Mister MG’. Arguably Cecil Kimber was the first man worthy of the nickname, although surely nobody would have dared say it to his face (he was, meanwhile, careful to defer ultimate credit to his ‘patron’). After Kimber left Abingdon, however, his legacy might have been lost because of the priorities of war work, which had helped engineer his cruel expulsion from MG, and with his tragic death in 1945. After the war MG entered a turbulent period. Although he was not destined to assume control at Abingdon until the end of 1952, John William Yates Thornley (11 June 1909 – 16 July 1994) certainly became a safe pair of hands that the MG factory needed to navigate it through the incredible journey that saw Abingdon transformed into the manufacturer of first the MGA and subsequently the MGB. Thornley’s son Peter wrote a biography of his father, entitled Mr MG (Magna Press), and the name is apposite. Thornley started at Abingdon in November 1931 as Service Receptionist; his front-facing customer role, at which he excelled, was a great primer in the business. Thornley forged friendships and earned wide respect, from the shop floor to the topmost corridors of power, and he was instrumental in ensuring the continued existence of MG sports cars and their home at Abingdon. He oversaw the expansion and changes that facilitated the new post-war MG generation.

One of his trusted colleagues was Albert Sydney (‘Syd’) Enever (25 March 1906–9 February 1993), whose arrival at what had originally been Morris Garages considerably preceded that of Thornley; in fact Enever started work in Morris Garages before Cecil Kimber, and moved to Abingdon in October 1929 where he became head of the ‘MG Car Company’s Experimental Department’. In the 1930s Enever became an essential part of the racing and record-breaking story of MG, supporting various memorable endeavours by Goldie Gardner and George Eyston. It was both an exciting and a remarkable story, and the experience gained, and Enever’s inherent aptitude and application to any given task, meant that he became a vital cog in the Abingdon machine, masterminding the MGA and later the MGB. While John Thornley fielded the politics, Syd Enever was so ingrained in Abingdon’s fabric that he too was called ‘Mister MG’. There were many other good people at Abingdon, but most of them would probably concede that John Thornley and Syd Enever deserved their reputation as heads of the family. Syd Enever eventually rose to become MG’s Chief Engineer and Designer. Thornley retired on 27 June 1969, Enever two years later in May 1971.



ABINGDON – CENTRE OF THE MG UNIVERSE

The former leather works at Abingdon-on-Thames was not the first dedicated MG factory; at Cecil Kimber’s instigation, William Morris (who became a baronet in 1929, and then a baron, as Lord Nuffield, in 1934) financed a brand new factory to build MGs at Edmund Road in Oxford, which opened in 1927. However as production rapidly expanded, this facility soon proved inadequate and thus the familiar premises at Abingdon were established, opening in 1929. One of the first people to go there as it opened was twenty-three-year-old Syd Enever.

Much of the workforce was drawn from Abingdon and the nearby villages of Marcham, Drayton, Sutton Courtenay, Culham, Clifton Hampden and the Oxford suburbs; many families had more than one member who worked at ‘The Gees’ on the Marcham Road leading out of town. This family atmosphere was fostered by MG’s management and helped give the Abingdon plant some of the best employee relations in the entire BMC group (and similarly in later British Leyland times). Some rivalry and even jealousy between Abingdon and Cowley was there on the surface, but it was nowhere as intense as that between Cowley and Longbridge. That slight insularity could be both a blessing and a curse.

By the time that the MGB arrived, the Abingdon factory had expanded to its practical limits (even though there were thoughts of beneficial rebuilding in the 1960s), but in the process a great deal had changed within its walls. Over the years, much of the subsidiary work such as chassis-making was whittled out of the factory, so that by the time of the MGB, Midget and Sprite as much importance was attached to the inwards deliveries at one end as to despatches heading out of another. The magic and mystery has always been associated with Abingdon – with good reason – but credit should also be given the other factories at Swindon, Coventry, Cowley and, yes, Birmingham, which made MGB production a reality. These are touched on later.

MG’s New Design Heroes

Reporting to Syd Enever were various small teams of design specialists, many of whom, unlike Enever and his peers, only arrived at Abingdon in the 1950s. In the midst of this was a young apprentice by the name of Roy Brocklehurst (18 June 1932 – 29 April 1988), who became an apprentice at Abingdon in 1947, straight out of school. He became a close confidant of Syd Enever, who seems to have appreciated and nurtured his young protégé’s enthusiasm in a way that undoubtedly helped his climb to Assistant Chief Engineer in 1964 and to take over as Chief Engineer when Enever retired in 1971; soon after, however, he was promoted within Austin Morris with a new role at Longbridge, working for Charles Griffin (Charles Arthur Griffin, 13 August 1918 – 31 October 1999).

The shift of MG design responsibility from Cowley to Abingdon in 1954 had created an opportunity for Enever to pick his new team, and he turned to some of the Cowley personnel he knew, many of whom he had worked with, trusting and respecting them. For body design work Enever recruited James Edward (‘Jim’) O’Neill (13 March 1922 – 12 December 2015), whose work on the MG TD and Z Magnette made him an obvious choice. O’Neill’s experience also included spells at Pressed Steel and Austin. He swiftly became a crucial member of the MGA design team, working with Syd Enever’s crucial ally Eric Carter (4 February 1907 – 8 April 1980) at Morris Bodies in Coventry. O’Neill’s role in delivering the MGA was swiftly followed by design work on the EX186 (an abortive Le Mans project) and various ideas to replace the MGA that preceded the final MGB. O’Neill was Chief Body Designer by 1970. Then there was Denis George Williams (born 7 August 1925) who had started at Pressed Steel, from where he moved to Morris Motors and the MG & Riley design office at Cowley; after a spell at Carbodies he came back to Cowley, at Morris Motors Radiators Branch, before joining the team at Abingdon. Williams worked on some aspects of the MGA, the EX186 prototype and would later be largely responsible for the ADO47 MG Midget of 1961.




The key leading members of the MG Development Team who were responsible for the creation of the MGB. From left to right they are: Syd Enever, Roy Brocklehurst, Jim O’Neill, Terry Mitchell, Don Hayter and Alec Hounslow.



The addition of responsibility for the Austin-Healey 100/6 meant that O’Neill and his team were under increased pressure and therefore had a need for more resources. This brought in Don Hayter (24 January 1926 – 9 October 2020), who had started out at Pressed Steel but more recently worked for Aston-Martin at their premises in Feltham. Upon his arrival at Abingdon in February 1956, Hayter was immediately pitched into work on the MGA Twin Cam. He really came to the fore, however, when asked by Jim O’Neill to work on what would become the definitive MGB; we will return to his role on that in more detail later.

On the chassis side, Jim O’Neill’s Cowley colleague Terence Henry (‘Terry’) Mitchell (9 September 1921 – 22 October 2003) also joined the new Abingdon team; Mitchell had worked on the EX179 record breaker and he was a talented suspension man, even if his favourite rear system of De Dion axles never translated into a production MG. He was involved in the MGA, MGB and MGC and was largely responsible for managing development of the MGB GT V8 shortly after Syd Enever’s retirement.

Richard Neville (‘Dickie’) Wright (11 April 1921 – 4 January 2012) was recruited from Tandon Motorcycles by Harry White (who played no part in the MGB story) and joined the team in March 1956, not long after Hayter. Wright soon found himself working principally with Terry Mitchell; by the latter stages of his career at Abingdon he had contributed royally to the MGB and derivatives including federal compliance and key structural safety aspects such as seat belt installations.

In 1960 came Desmond Griffith (‘Des’) Jones (22 January 1919 – 15 June 2006), another former Morris Motors body draughtsman (he had started at Cowley in August 1936 as a clerk on the production line). After remarkable Second World War service (North Africa, Sicily and D-Day landings), quietly spoken Jones returned to Cowley and worked on the Morris Minor and Tourer, Oxford and related Traveller, the MG Z Magnette and Wolseley 4/44 and the ADO16 BMC 1100; under O’Neill and Hayter he contributed to the MGB family in many ways, including the interior fixtures (and, in due course, the impact-absorbing facias and the MGC bonnet). Jones came to Abingdon in August 1960, at a time when many Cowley jobs were headed for Longbridge. Like several of his colleagues, Jones went on to contribute to the Triumph Acclaim project at Cowley.

Donald William (‘Don’) Butler (June 1930 – 14 January 2012) came to Abingdon a year before Des Jones, but had worked on the MGA bodyshell in 1954 when Jim O’Neill had co-opted his assistance to work alongside Eric Carter in Coventry. Butler also worked on the MGB family, designing the definitive crackle-black facia, and worked on the Midget; he later followed Roy Brocklehurst to Longbridge to work on LC10 – eventually the Maestro hatchback.

MOTORING COLOSSUS: THE BRITISH MOTOR CORPORATION

William Richard Morris (ultimately Lord Nuffield) was a man who became a curious blend of corporate dictator, paternalist and magnificent philanthropist. Throughout the history of his business interests, which eventually coalesced into a giant of the British motor industry called the Nuffield Organization, its father figure and creator sought to exercise the ultimate rights of decision-making that his position allowed, but having turned seventy just two years after the war, his ability and his appetite for running such a large business began to wane. He died just a few months after the MGB’s launch.

All the while that the Nuffield Organization was seeking to meet the demand for exports, and to reinvent its entire car range for the post-war world, it faced competition from a number of quarters. The British car industry was dominated by a group of companies known colloquially as the ‘Big Five’ (BMC, Ford, Rootes, Standard-Triumph and Vauxhall), but for historical reasons the biggest rivalry as far as Nuffield was concerned lay with Austin, headquartered in Longbridge, south of Birmingham.

Austin of Longbridge was led by Leonard Lord, who before the war had been number two to Lord Nuffield, running the latter’s business but resigning in August 1936. There are various stories of why this took place, but not long after Leonard Lord joined the Austin Motor Company in 1938 he became the heir apparent to Lord Austin (the ‘old man’ died in 1941) and by the time that peace-time production resumed in 1945, the Austin business was a serious and arguably Morris’s most ruthless rival.






The 1953 MG TF Midget, the last of the ‘traditional’ Midgets, was also the first of the BMC era; it was short lived as the MGA took its place two years later.

The two rivals danced warily around each other in the late 1940s and there was a short-lived collaboration of sorts, but this was broken off due to mutual lack of enthusiasm. However, with political as well as business interests seeking to encourage closer cooperation and rationalization across the industry, consolidation became almost inevitable. Matters came to a head late on 23 November 1951, when a merger of interests was announced, proclaimed as the genesis of an industrial British colossus to rival the American ‘Big Three’ of General Motors, Ford and Chrysler.

Initially Lord Nuffield was announced as the head of the combine, with Leonard Lord, Reginald Hanks (Nuffield’s deputy) and George Harriman (Austin), but it was an unhappy ship with two captains at the helm. Before long, Lord Nuffield ceded control to his former protégé: from then on, whilst ‘Morris, MG, Wolseley, Riley and Morris Commercial’ interests were nominally still run from Cowley by the Morris Motors Board, the real power lay in Birmingham; periodically Leonard Lord, Chairman of the British Motor Corporation, felt it necessary to remind others who was the ultimate boss of an organization that nevertheless maintained separate product and marketing channels.

A consequence of the loose management arrangements, and the shift of the ultimate power base away from Cowley, facilitated tribal factions, with rivalries between the ‘Morris’ and ‘Austin’ factories. Leonard Lord and George Harriman seem to have enjoyed and encouraged many of these internecine squabbles and tensions, often setting one group against the other, backing rival projects for a single outcome – the engine that went into the short-lived MGA Twin Cam being a typical example.

As far as MG at Abingdon was concerned, this presented challenges as well as opportunities. The MGA, for example, was a fairly early recipient of the new BMC corporate Austin-designed and Longbridge-made ‘B’ Series engine, a choice largely foisted on MG but a shrewd move in the end as it helped cement MG and Abingdon more firmly within the BMC corporate supply chain. John Thornley told the author how he worked hard to foster a good relationship with Leonard Lord, whose attitude to some of his management (Chief Engineer Gerald Palmer being a good case) would surely be unimaginable in a modern context.

Winning the battle for MG’s sports car future and design expertise, with a new design office in 1954 and the MGA launched the following year, was partly down to Thornley’s skilful negotiations, and he helped secure the Abingdon factory for the lifetime of the new roadster at least. Even so, there was little doubt that the costs involved in creating a new motor car were climbing inexorably upwards; the table below has been included as a snapshot that contrasts the project sums considered by the Morris Motors Board for the MGA (‘DO1062’) and what became the MGB (‘ADO23’).

If we assume an overall tooling cost for the MGA of under £200,000, the equivalent figure for the MGB was already being predicted as well over twice as much as early as the spring of 1958. Clever thinking by John Thornley would eventually help with this problem, but we are getting ahead of ourselves as that story is told in the next chapter.







CHAPTER TWO

SECOND REVOLUTION – REPLACING THE MGA

For many designers, the excitement of a project is in the chase towards production: as soon as this is achieved, their interest shifts toward the next challenge.

Within weeks of the launch of the MGA, John Thornley and Syd Enever were already planning a successor to keep Abingdon afloat. In November 1955 they produced a joint paper entitled ‘Suggested Design and Development Programme for Abingdon Products’, expressing a belief that future Abingdon sports cars should have chassis frames. Despite this, Thornley told the author, ‘by the middle of the following year, we were scratching out the beginnings of the B – which eventually became monocoque!’

EX205 – CONSERVATIVE BEGINNINGS

There were several reasons for this; BMC corporate politics combined with caution at a time when monocoque cars without a roof still seemed a risk. Syd Enever was justifiably pleased with the chassis that he, Terry Mitchell and Roy Brocklehurst had delivered for the MGA. Welding the chassis frame at Abingdon (from John Thompson components) provided security of production; too often Thornley and Enever had seen external threats to Abingdon’s survival. Had Gerald Palmer’s monocoque MG sports car gone ahead, there was a risk that MG production could have switched entirely to Cowley. Furthermore, body-tooling costs were rising in the 1950s, whilst tool-making capacity in the UK was inadequate; having just secured the budget for the MGA’s chassis, Thornley felt there was something to be said for saving the cost of replacing it.




Harry Herring’s model of Jim O’Neill’s design (to Syd Enever’s brief) for a possible replacement for the MGA Coupé.






Photographed when new, this is Harry Herring’s model of EX205 in Roadster form.



Hence the initial concept derived from the MGA: the November 1955 report suggested that ‘there is ample room within the MGA bodyshell for substantial changes in chassis layout. A more advanced shape is already being worked on against the day when this may be needed.’ This pragmatic approach was explained to the author by Jim O’Neill, who had joined MG as Chief Body Draughtsman in 1954: ‘our main problem was the tooling cost – we were always working on a shoestring, and so we thought that if we could just put another body on an MGA chassis frame then there would be less cost involved.’

The first serious in-house effort to re-clothe the MGA chassis was undertaken by O’Neill. It was rounded and bulky, and he himself referred to it as ‘The Pig’. A frequent challenge was trying to turn the creative ideas of his boss (Enever) into a practical proposition, and by his own admission this exercise was not successful, and Enever agreed. O’Neill personally chopped up the model and there are no known photos to record what it actually looked like (there are photos of O’Neill concepts of rounded coupé concepts, including some shown here, but they should not be confused with the poor ‘Pig’).

As 1957 rolled into 1958, there were more factors in play alongside the saga of ‘The Pig’ and the Frua car. The Healeydesigned ADO13 Austin-Healey Sprite came to Abingdon and there were serious teething problems with this brand new model (which need not concern us here), but necessitated interest in open monocoques. It was evident that an MG Midget could be spun off the Sprite, and so it would have seemed strange in this context if the MGA replacement retained a separate chassis frame. As the MG team looked into this more, it was also obvious that the space and effort taken up by MGA chassis manufacture could usefully be sacrificed in favour of overall output, which was especially important from late 1957 as Abingdon became BMC’s corporate sports car centre, building both MGs and Austin-Healeys.




Gerald Palmer, based at Cowley, created this monocoque sports car concept.



Meanwhile, over at Rootes Group, the monocoque underframe of the Hillman Husky was adapted as the basis of the 1959 Loewy-styled Sunbeam Alpine ‘Series I’. Responsibility for many Rootes bodies lay with Pressed Steel (as with the Sprite); it seems obvious that there would have been some interesting ‘what if?’ conversations between Pressed Steel and their friends at MG. Don Hayter told the author how he and his colleagues had been ‘wowed’ by the Alpine when they first saw one at Earls Court; it had sleek, straight-through wing lines rising to those fashionable, increasingly de rigueur peaked tail fins. If Rootes was making a move on MG territory, then BMC needed to ensure their next contender was up to the task.







ELEGANT DEAD END – THE FRUA MGA

 

Early attempts at a new body for the MGA chassis met limited success; as evident in the main text, sketches and models were worked up to Syd Enever’s brief by Jim O’Neill and Peter Neal, but it is fair to say that nobody loved them. In the midst of this, Enever went to see George Harriman at Longbridge and the outcome was that an MGA chassis was shipped to Frua in Italy, with a request that the stylist work his magic and create a new sports car for the American audience. The result was a stunning, Italianate roadster with plenty of chrome and an off-white leather interior: it had luxurious fixtures, fittings and finish, but nobody believed it was an MG in spirit. The combination of the standard 1.5-litre engine and heavy hand-built body put paid to the Frua MGA (retrospectively given the MG project code of EX205/2R). The Frua MGA was destroyed in order to avoid paying import tax on the car, which had cost £13,000. If nothing else, the exercise helped convince everyone that there was merit in dispensing with the separate chassis.




The Frua-bodied MGA was much admired but arguably looked more like a contemporary Maserati than a small British sports car. Sadly it was later destroyed to avoid paying the import taxes.






The full-size Frua prototype was measured and drawn at Abingdon, and a scale model was made by MG’s talented modelmaker Harry Herring, who also made a coupé hardtop. The model itself survives at Gaydon.






AUSTIN-HEALEY COMES TO ABINGDON

 

When the Austin-Healey 100 came into being in 1952, there were sharp intakes of breath for differing reasons at Warwick, Longbridge and Abingdon. For a time the beautiful new shape of the stylish Healey was the pinnacle of the BMC sports car family, with assembly at Longbridge using bodies from Jensen of West Bromwich, but eventually an opportunity was taken to rationalize BMC sports car assembly at one factory, arguably one of BMC’s more logical decisions.



EX214 – THE MONOCOQUE SOLUTION

Eventually a monocoque solution became inevitable. That the new Pressed Steel facility at Swindon housed the necessary expertise and was on the lookout for work only helped sway decisions. John Thornley often boasted – with justification – that whilst the assembly-line facilities at Abingdon were never state-of-the-art, their simplicity meant that they could be reconfigured in a matter of days rather than months. Thornley pointed out that the lines at Abingdon comprised ‘little low brick walls with precast concrete channels on the top, that a motor car would roll along: it was a channel one side, and a flat platform the other – so this would take varying tracks, and cars were propelled from one workstation to the next by the good old way of pushing!’

The change to chassis-less construction came in June 1958, and with it project ‘EX205’ was superseded by ‘EX214 – Replacement for MGA’. Having made the decision, the next step was to determine how best to make it work. Syd Enever asked his team to experiment, and Don Hayter and Roy Brocklehurst sketched out ideas. ‘We drew up a chassis and a sill section, and pulled them together, to produce a composite section which we reckoned would be strong enough’, Hayter remembers, conceding that this was theory without much hard evidence. ‘We said to Syd that what he wanted would depend upon the torsional stiffness in the middle of the car. If you take the doors off, the car is effectively only a few inches thick. We could do a deep tunnel in the middle, but the stiffness at the outer edges would depend upon the sills.’




The inevitable Harry Herring model in the foreground, photographed at the British Motor Museum; note the EX205 behind at the left and the Frua model (with conventional top) behind.



The way forward was to carry out torsional tests on the basic MGA chassis and then make up and test their new sill section in the same manner, using a 4-foot-long test piece using the proposed cross-section. This was then taken to the test rig at Cowley: ‘we tested it and found it wasn’t quite as stiff – but it was 95 per cent there. Of course what we weren’t doing was measuring the whole lot, complete with the central tunnel as well – so we reckoned that by having a sill and a tunnel joined by cross-members, which physically overlapped, we were going to get the equivalent stiffness.’ The principle established, the detailing ensued: Brocklehurst did the under-frame including floor, bulkhead and pedal surfaces, whilst Hayter did all the other parts of the core structure: ‘I did everything from there inwards – all the wheel arches, inner wheel arches and so on, and joined them onto Roy’s floor and engine mountings, effectively.’

As the table shows, however, there was another aspect to the study: choice of powertrain. Taking the 1622cc B-Series as the base option, the V4 engine was a new power unit that had been developed by Dr Duncan Stewart and his small team at Longbridge as part of a proposed brand new family of units with a narrow ‘vee’ formation including 2-litre V4 and 3-litre V6 versions.




The V4 engine was a serious exercise to create an all-new corporate engine family for the 1960s, on broadly similar lines to the work at Ford. There was a very narrow angle between the two banks of cylinder pairs, resulting in a compact unit that was short but nevertheless wider than an in-line four. Prototypes were tested at Abingdon as well as Longbridge, but in the end the project was abandoned.



Obvious benefits were packaging and weight; prototype V4 units ran in MGAs although, according to Don Hayter, MG never saw the V6 in the metal. The greater width of the engine and ancillaries necessitated a wider engine bay. Ian Elliott, a former Austin Apprentice, says ‘I think there were two different sizes of V4, the larger one once being essayed in an MGB prototype. Duncan Stewart and his team did a lot of “blue sky” stuff, such as all the early development on belt-drive cams (first used by Vauxhall in the end). They even stuck a truck-sized turbocharger on an MGA at one stage I believe.’

A further option was the use of the MGA Twin Cam engine, which, it should be remembered, was still brand new in summer 1958; for better access to the unit in the engine bay, a wider bonnet aperture was again essential. The fourth option was a new 4-cylinder unit, schemed by Syd Enever from the basis of the C-Series six, already due for an expansion of capacity in 1959 to 2912cc. This meant in theory that a 4-cylinder version could be built using existing tooling, to a capacity of 1941cc.

The final option referenced was a ‘two-litre MG engine’, which, if not the 4-cylinder C-Series, was presumably a bespoke unit. In the end none of these alternatives progressed; whilst the idea of the twin-cam as an option was initially favoured, in-service headaches (covered in detail in MGA – The Revolutionary MG) meant that the compromise was the 1798cc B-Series in-line 4-cylinder. The idea of using a version of the old 2.2-litre 4-cylinder Austin engine, then still used in the Austin Gipsy and Taxi, is covered in Chapter Five.

Meanwhile the overall style, in particular the external ‘skin’, developed towards the familiar MGB shape. ‘I just cleaned off the vestigial fins from my quarter-scale, and altered the tail lamps’, Hayter says, adding that there was pressure on him to use the ADO16 tail lamps, which are quite similar: ‘but they were too sharp, and I wanted more shape to get the lines running through the whole body from the headlamp in the way I wanted them. So I did my own tail lamp, did the headlamp cut-in, and effectively by cutting the front off the shape of Jim’s car, there was the site for the radiator grille.’ It should be noted for the record that Jim O’Neill also laid claim to those tail lamps; the truth is probably that both were responsible, for at the time Hayter reported to Jim O’Neill.




There can be little doubt that this beautiful quarter-scale model by Harry Herring shows the definitive shape of the MGB. Note how the radiator grille badge is modelled as a cast item with enamelled MG badge, rather like that of the outgoing MGA.






The B-Series engine was an easy fit within the wide engine bay of the MGB (here in prototype form, photographed on 23 January 1962 for the record by Pressed Steel).



As what had been EX214 segued into the BMC-sanctioned ADO23, the design moved closer towards the definitive MGB. The table here shows some of the key early work as recorded in the substantial ADO23 section of the EX Register. ADO23/370 was the first prototype, built by Eric Carter and his team at Morris Motors Bodies Branch at Quinton Road, Coventry. MG’s talented modelmaker Harry Herring made a scale model and, with this approved, the lines were scaled up and a full-size model was built.

‘John Thornley and Syd looked at it – with just silver paint on it – and then metal panels were made up from the wooden model, and the insides were made to Roy’s drawings – all by Eric Carter at Coventry’, Hayter told the author, adding ‘I was up and down to Coventry so often, I must have worn a groove in the road.’

After a management viewing by Sir George Harriman, the go-ahead was given and the first running prototype was started. This version would have an independent rear suspension set-up and the spare wheel was stowed vertically in the boot. With development approval agreed, work could proceed on the various constituent elements of the new sports car. Joseph Lucas, Dunlop, Lockheed and Wilmot-Breeden were typical of the trusted suppliers, but there were various other specialists who were engaged with bespoke parts unique to the model.


EX REGISTER: EX214 ‘REPLACEMENT FOR MGA’



	Number
	Date
	Name of Part



	EX214/1
	9 June 1958
	¼ scale Body Lines



	EX214/2
	13 June 1958
	Scheme for V4 engine installed in 91-inch wheelbase



	EX214/3
	17 June 1958
	Scheme for Twin Cam engine installed in 91-inch wheelbase



	EX214/4
	20 June 1958
	Scheme for 2-litre engine, as 2.9-litre engine with ‘3’ and ‘4’ cylinders missing, installed in 91-inch wheelbase



	EX214/5
	[no date listed]
	Scheme for 2-litre MG engine installed in 91-inch wheelbase



	EX214/6
	20 October 1958
	Scheme 1 for MGB



	EX214/7
	20 October 1958
	Scheme 2 for MGB



	EX214/8
	7 November 1958
	Scheme 3 for MGB



	EX214/9
	5 January 1959
	Sill section (showing welding conditions)



	EX214/10
	3 February 1959
	¼ scale Body Lines – Twin Headlamps and Revised Rear Wing



	EX214/11
	19 February 1959
	¼ scale Body Lines – Wide Radiator Grille – Short Coupé Top (Rear End as EX214/1)



	EX214/12
	1 May 1959
	¼ scale Body Lines – Wide Radiator Grille




The details above have been abstracted from the MG EX Register and show a number of specific pieces of development spread over just under a year.









CHANGES AT THE TOP TABLE

 

Around Christmas 1961, a few months before the launch of the MGB, there were changes in senior management within BMC. On 7 November 1961 Sir Leonard Lord retired from the BMC Board in favour of his deputy, George Harriman. A statement said:

Young George has taken over at last. It was officially announced today that Mr. G. W. Harriman is now to be both chairman and managing director of the British Motor Corporation. After 38 years in the car industry Mr. Harriman has become the most powerful single figure in a company which claims to be the fourth largest manufacturer of motor cars in the world. ‘I shall paddle along for a few years more and then let young George take over’, Sir Leonard Lord, the retiring chairman, said some years ago, and there was a good deal of respect and affection in that remark. Mr. Harriman has been a protégé of Sir Leonard’s since taking his first job at the Morris engine factory, Coventry, in 1923. There he collected both a patron and a nickname, for his father, ‘Old George’ Harriman, was works manager of the Morris Motors engine branch.

Meanwhile Autocar, in its issue of 17 November 1961, covered the announcement that Alec Issigonis, who was ten years younger than Sidney Victor Smith (long time overseer of Abingdon’s affairs), had been appointed BMC Technical Director; the piece bluntly recorded that ‘Mr Issigonis succeeds Mr S. V. Smith, who has retired’. Both Harriman and Issigonis would prove important to both the production and motor sports aspects of the MGB, up until the 1968 British Leyland merger, when another group of new brooms would sweep in. The arrival and early years of the MGB would coincide with the ‘golden years’ of BMC; profits boomed and by the time that very informal talks about some kind of collaboration began with the much smaller Leyland organization in 1964, BMC, with its strongly selling ADO15 Mini and ADO16 1100 ranges, was in a position of strength, with annual profits that year of over £21 million. The BMC castle was, however, built on sand.



INGREDIENTS IN THE MIX

The windscreen of the MGB was a clever piece of design by Don Hayter, designed as a removable unit that encased the glass in a multi-piece aluminium alloy frame with aerodynamically smoothed pillars either side. The first record of the design dates from July 1959 (see table); after further revisions it was ready for production development by Auster of Birmingham. By this stage Hayter had Don Butler working alongside him, the latter assisting with details such as trim, opening mechanisms, brackets and stays, including a prototype spring-assisted support intended for the MGB’s bootlid (recorded as ADO23/221 – see table), which was dropped on cost grounds, but would be reinterpreted later for the MGB GT.




This is the interior of the original 1960 prototype; although here painted body colour, the facia (designed by Don Butler working with Don Hayter) is getting closer to the definitive style, although oddities like the central speaker would be dropped. Note also the open area beneath and behind the facia; the bracing later introduced has yet to be conceived.



The first prototype’s dashboard was intended to be painted, like that of the earlier MGA, but it was revised in time for the production specification to comprise a metal panel finished in ‘crackle black’ paint. The instrument cowling was shaped and was a plastic moulding. Don Hayter recalls the initial difficulties this somewhat novel choice of material caused: ‘it really was a problem, because we couldn’t get it to run consistently in the material they were trying. We initially went to a supplier in Great Barr, Birmingham, and he did some mouldings which tended to twist.’ After further discussions with ICI it was decided to switch the material to one of their new plastics, ‘Delrin’, and they agreed to supply the cowling and benefit from the associated publicity. Credit for delivering the crackle-black facia should fairly be split between Don Hayter and Don Butler.

The Connolly leather-faced seats had one-piece moulded polyurethane foam cushions developed by Aeropreen of High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire. Jim O’Neill told the author that the MGB was one of the first cars to benefit from such moulded foams: ‘previously, seat foams would be built up from various cut pieces stuck together’. Meanwhile the heater unit (to be listed in many markets as an optional extra) was reworked from that of the contemporary Austin A40.









Although not obvious in this black-and-white photo, the first prototype was silver and green. It had trailing arm rear suspension rather than the conventional leaf springs of the final MGB. According to Don Hayter, the car was driven by the likes of Syd Enever, Alec Hounslow, Roy Brocklehurst and Tom Haig, who disliked the amount of rear end steer from the prototype suspension.



Many other suppliers contributed to the MGB, including Wilmot-Breeden (door and boot handles and locks), Lucas (electrical wiring and components), Dunlop, Lockheed, John Thompson Pressings (the front suspension sub-assembly), Armstrong (shock absorbers), Cam Gears (steering rack assembly), Coopers (air filters) and Rivington (carpets), not to mention other BMC ‘family’ factories and divisions such as Radiators Branch, Tractors & Transmissions and, of course, SU Carburettors.

HIGHLY SPRUNG – DEAD-END SUSPENSION DETOURS

Development work on the MGA had included experimentation with more sophisticated rear suspension. The MGA had been noted for its good road manners and durability, but this was at the expense of ride quality. A softer and more amenable ride could only really be achieved in the case of leaf springs by a change of material or a lengthening of the springs themselves – and those changes would also reduce resistance to the kind of in-use deformations inherent in hard-driven sports cars, such as torque-induced suspension wind-up and a lack of transverse stability, which could create dangerous handling problems.

There are various clever variations, such as De Dion suspension (especially favoured by MG Chassis Engineer Terry Mitchell), together with various potential add-ons such as Watts linkages or Panhard rods, but undoubtedly the optimum but more costly solution required coil springs. The work on the MGA initially meant that the MGB would have independent rear suspension, which would have necessitated drive shafts from an Austin Gipsy axle unit, the only suitable option from within the BMC family at the time. The Gipsy, launched on 28 February 1958, had been BMC’s answer to the Land Rover, its independent suspension marketed as a benefit for cross-country use.

In an effort to mitigate the extra costs of the independent rear suspension, it was decided to eschew the superior Watts linkage in favour of a Panhard rod, which had to be secured to the bodywork in the vicinity of the boot floor. The bracket used would double-up as the anchor for the spare wheel, mounted vertically inside the boot.




The boot (trunk) compartment of the silver prototype with independent rear suspension. The spare wheel (not shown) would have been stowed more or less vertically at the front of the boot, which is shorter than the eventual tail end of the definitive MGB. The fuel tank is the other side of the upright boot panel.



Before long the prototype was being tested at the Motor Industry Research Association (MIRA) and problems soon emerged, according to Don Hayter:

we found that the pavé testing was causing the anchorage to tear; it was very much an overhung bracket, and the Panhard rod was tearing this bracket off the body. So we had to strengthen that up, and yet it was still bending the bracket. Because we had a low car, the cornering loads you can expect on a sports car are very different to those on a saloon, because in the latter you can tolerate more ride and roll movements, whereas of course you minimize these in a sports car, and therefore the side loads are greater.

Tom Haig, MG’s Chief Test driver (and former racer – he had competed in an MGA in the 1957 Mille Miglia), reported that he did not like the way that the Panhard rod introduced a degree of unpredictability into the rear end; with the support of Alec Hounslow, he convinced Syd Enever that, on balance, the tried and tested leaf spring set-up would be cheaper, more predictable and easier to tune for racing and rallying purposes. Hayter says:

Syd told Roy to change to cart springs, but they were inclined slightly so that you could get a bit of steering control at the rear. Roy did that, but when he put it in, he found that the body was too short to get the anchorages where he really wanted them. So suddenly I had to lengthen the body by an inch.

Roy Brocklehurst himself was sanguine when he reflected to Wilson McComb on the switch back to leaf springs:

I think that, given the restraints we had, we did as good a job as could be done. For a semi-elliptic car, the MGB has to be as good as any. Triumph, for instance – they too had to use saloon car components, but they had a different set of bits to work with … and MG had to be a car you could get into and immediately feel at home in. A lot of people could drive TRs quickly, but they were rather exceptional people or they’d had a lot of exposure to the cars.

This was all resolved in March 1960, and at the same time the shape of the boot compartment was altered and the spare wheel was laid flat, with an MGA-style underfloor fuel tank (replaced three years into production by a newer type developed by Morris Radiators). By August of the same year (see above) the Morris Motors Board had sanctioned a sum of £405,000 for the MGB project under Project Code B26, but before long John Thornley would negotiate a cunning deal with Pressed Steel that reduced the upfront investment from BMC.

As shown in the table earlier in the chapter, the definitive body layout was shown on drawing ADO23/712, dated 19 April 1961 and entitled ‘Quarter scale – body arrangement to Pressed Steel Company drawings’. From this point, both MG at Abingdon (in particular Don Hayter) and Pressed Steel Swindon (primarily David Osman) were aligned.


FRONT SUSPENSION – WISHBONES, COIL SPRINGS AND LEVER ARMS

 

Alexander Arnold Constantine Issigonis (8 November 1906 – 2 October 1988; knighted 22 July 1969) is, of course, best known for his work on the post-war Morris Minor and the ADO15 Mini. As we have seen, by the time that the MGB was coming into production, he had become BMC’s Technical Director and so oversaw MG affairs. Alongside Issigonis was former MG Abingdon employee (1927–35) Jack Daniels (William John Daniels, 8 February 19120 – 27 November 2004), who told the author how, as part of the Morris Motors design team at Cowley, he was seconded to Issigonis in 1937 to work on a new front suspension system. Issigonis, also recently arrived at Cowley, had been tasked with the creation of a new independent front suspension system intended for the equally new ‘Morris Ten’, which would be the first monocoque-bodied Morris. For budget reasons the new Morris entered production without this suspension (although Daniels said that there would have been an ‘IFS’ Morris and MG at the 1939 Motor Show, had it gone ahead). After the war, however, the MG Y-Type saloon became the first Nuffield Group project to utilize the Issigonis front suspension. Sir Miles Thomas, Nuffield Vice Chairman, often drove the prototype throughout the war. The design was simple and versatile and easy to bolt in during final assembly, and was used in the MG TD, TF, MGA, MGB and MGC. By the time of the MGB, whilst the wishbone layout was still desirable, the Armstrong Lever Arm shock-absorbers were less so, and the need to regularly grease the unit was another sign of the past. Even so, the geometry and operation of the Issigonis front suspension, married to a smooth and precise rack and pinion steering mechanism, was fine and fit for purpose (unlike some other systems).



THE MGB EMERGES

With the packaging of the rear end and suspension resolved, it was possible to build the first definitive MGB prototypes: a black car with red trim (ADO23/797) and a red one with black trim (ADO23/801), both recorded in the EX Register in July 1961 (see table earlier in this chapter). Don Hayter says that much of the further development and testing work was then undertaken on the black car, while the red car appears to have been used for studio work. Meanwhile a fair amount of powertrain testing, including endurance runs at MIRA, could be undertaken in MGA ‘mules’ without attracting unwelcome attention. The engines fitted at this stage were 1588cc B-Series rather than the 1798cc units destined for production.




More of Harry Herring’s handiwork, clearly centred on the design theme of the MGB: (left to right) half and full width MGB nose; potential ‘ADO34’ Mini-based Midget nose; front-wheel-drive MG two-door and twin-headlamp MGB/MGC nose.



In 1961 there were eight pre-production cars, a mix of right- and left-hand-drive specimens, and these were used to finesse the details in time for the launch the next year. Chalgrove Airfield, just 11 miles east of Abingdon, was another popular and well-used test venue. The sessions at Chalgrove highlighted problems with that blight of the open car, scuttle shake: the solution adopted was to weld a square-section tube transversely between the vertical inner scuttle panels and the top of the gearbox tunnel, hidden away just behind and below the dashboard. The tube also happened to be in the right position to provide an anchorage for the steering column; ‘it was very rigid, and therefore ideal for that, so the tube did two or three things at once’, Don Hayter explains.




The square-section tube that braces across the front of the MGB cockpit can be seen in this image, taken from a CKD assembly manual from BMC Australia.



The addition of the tube (roughly 1 inch square) was a simple and pragmatic solution (all the key panels had been tooled by this stage) and, according to David Nicholas and Ted Gowland of Pressed Steel, there was a hidden ‘bonus’ at Swindon, where from time to time any ‘spare’ material from the large quantities of steel tubing ordered soon saw completely unofficial duty for some rather natty golf trolley frames. ‘There were a few of them to be seen on the golf courses around Swindon’, Nicholas admitted, refusing to deny the existence of one in his garage. Also below the dashboard was a further reinforcing panel, joining the gearbox tunnel to the scuttle; the plastic console overlaying it was fitted with an eight-sided silver radio speaker bezel.

Meanwhile, as a great deal of the torsional strength of the MGB relied upon the clever quadrant-section sill ‘tubes’ that Don Hayter and Roy Brocklehurst had come up with, Jim O’Neill was keen to see how well the theory translated into production of the sub-assemblies on the line at Swindon. ‘I was more concerned about the welding aspects, because you had three panels of different thickness coming together – an outside sill, a centre member and an inner sill, all crimped together’, he told the author, noting that the inner ones were of higher gauge than the outer ones:


I was concerned at how effectively these could be welded together in production – and in fact Pressed Steel were concerned too. The problem was that you could easily find that the spot-welding electrodes could burn through in the process of trying to weld the three panels; in the case of the outer panel, you could burn through it completely.

To me, that was the biggest problem of all, and I went to see Pressed Steel’s Chief Engineer, Geoffrey Robinson, who brought in his technical experts on the welding side – works engineers rather than draughtsmen. They thought that they could achieve it by using various sizes of electrodes – larger and smaller ones on opposite sides of individual welds – and they actually came up with a perfect example, more or less by trial and error. This was something which according to the text book could not be achieved – a classic example of experience over theory.






Photographed in 1961, this is probably the red MGB pre-production prototype, ADO23/801, referred to in the text. Note the lack of front overriders (initially conceived as an optional extra). In most terms this is very close to the definitive MGB that entered production in May 1962.






This overhead view, this time of a right-hand-drive pre-production car, shows a few differences from the production MGB. Note, for example, the three-part rear bumper blade, the two-spoke steering wheel, the rectangular speaker grille and the slightly different ‘MGB’ script badge on the bootlid.



Testing showed up a few other issues. Excessive noise, for example, was found when the design team tried welding the front cross-member in place (set out under ADO23/820, dated 6 October 1961); in the event the cross-member was bolted in conventionally – more practicable in assembly terms and certainly a boon for restorers. Overall, however, the problems were few and far between: the basic design of the MGB was a sound one – just as well, because although nobody knew it at the time, it would be in production for eighteen years.

JOHN THORNLEY DOES A DEAL

We saw at the end of Chapter One how the Morris Motors Board had sanctioned tooling costs for the ADO23 project; on this basis work had started, in the words of Pressed Steel’s David Nicholas ‘on a nod and a wink’. The work on the much bigger ADO16 was in train at the same time, and BMC and Pressed Steel’s work programmes were heavily intertwined despite their separate ownership. However, tooling and assembly costs were spiralling upwards at this time, and MG’s John Thornley was nervous about the risk that these costs might derail the project. Coupled to this, a recession in the US market in 1960 led to severe cutbacks in MGA production, assembly at Abingdon of Morris Minor Vans and Travellers helping offset the drop in demand. Full recovery had come by April 1961, but it had been a salutary episode for a factory dependent on sports cars.




Pressed Steel placed this advertisement in the 21 September 1962 issue of Autocar, which covered the introduction of the MGB.






A pre-production MGB Roadster, photographed in November 1961.



By now the estimate for the MGB body had mushroomed to £628,000. Thornley dabbled with long-term thoughts of a glass-reinforced plastic monocoque like the 1961 Lotus Elite, but this was obviously not an option for the MGB. Ever the clever operator, Thornley’s solution to the cost and worry about future recession was to get Pressed Steel to reduce their price by more than half to £280,000, but in return for a £2 royalty on every MGB sold. It was on the face of it a cunning plan, as it shifted some of the risk to the body supplier. As body production and finishing was to take place at Morris Bodies, Pressed Steel Swindon only had to find the space for a sub-assembly line. Jim O’Neill, ex-Pressed Steel himself, was less convinced:

Pressed Steel decided to cut the tooling costs – they were very wise, there was no doubt about that – and in return we would pay that extra two Pounds royalty on the body. Of course we paid that over and over and over again, hundreds of thousands of time, so I felt that was a mistake in the long run … you see Pressed Steel could quite easily swallow half the cost of the tooling. If we were going to pay for the tooling in full, we’d have paid substantially more of course, but as far as they were concerned they could swallow much of this, and really in fact only pay half of what we would pay. And then getting this £2 or so per car, Pressed Steel must have been really laughing all the way to the bank. On the other hand, of course, it could all have come unstuck for them – the car could have gone out of production early.


PRESSED STEEL SWINDON AND MORRIS BODIES

 

Morris Motors Bodies Branch had its origins in body-maker Hollick & Pratt, which had been bought by William Morris. During the Morris Motors and later Nuffield Organization years, the body-making business at Coventry expanded to fill the space between Quinton Road and Mill Lane, just south of the city centre. In 1960 BMC’s George Harriman sanctioned a brand-new paint shop at Quinton Road, which would benefit the forthcoming MGB, destined to be assembled there from sub-assemblies supplied from Pressed Steel Swindon. These assemblies were fitted into jigs, welded and bolted up as appropriate, and then the completed bodies would be taken through the paint shop and then to a trim shop for build up to a weather-tight body suitable for transport south by road to Abingdon. Morris Bodies had a small design and prototype shop, led by Eric Carter, who had previous experience at Riley and Daimler (both Coventry concerns in their day).




Pressed Steel, as a supplier to BMC and hence outside the organization, prepared proposal brochures for their clients, and this is a neat pencil sketch used to illustrate the one for ADO23, the future MGB. The title box shows the drawing was checked by David Osman of Pressed Steel.






An artist at Pressed Steel took the basic line drawings of the proposed ADO 23 body and produced these hand-coloured illustrations in chalk and coloured pencil on black card, which were bound within a special hard-backed presentation brochure – which was in turn rescued from a skip a few years later by Abingdon Plant Manager Bob Ward.



Meanwhile, the Pressed Steel Company began life across the road from the Morris works at Cowley in 1926 as a joint venture involving William Morris and the Edward G. Budd Corporation of Philadelphia to supply steel bodyshells. By 1930 Morris had sold his shares as there had been concerns that his involvement prejudiced the independence of the business. In 1956 a new factory was opened at Swindon in order to cater for expanding business, which, coupled with Cowley, covered many of the world’s carmakers, although BMC and Rootes were the two biggest customers. The new factory at Swindon brought with it a raft of new employees; local workers in the growing town, many of them recent arrivals from East London, coupled with several draughtsmen who arrived following the closure of a Hawker aircraft factory in the Bristol area. Pressed Steel had the expert tool and jig makers and production engineers necessary to turn a full-size ‘model stack’ (a life-size representation in highly polished wood of the finished article) into press tools and a running assembly line. A synergy of the talents of BMC’s Morris Bodies Branch and Pressed Steel was at the heart of the MGB.



The MGB Bits that Pressed Steel Didn’t Like …

David Osman of Pressed Steel told the author of two personal bêtes noires of his: the aluminium alloy bonnet and those distinctive scallops in the front wings. Syd Enever originally planned alloy doors and bootlid as well, but costs as well as practical in-service considerations eventually ruled those out. The alloy bonnet, however, remained; as Osman explained:

Aluminium is three times the cost of steel and about a third the weight, but you have to up the gauge for stiffness, so the weight saving is less than it might seem at first. In addition, there was a different painting process for aluminium, with an etch primer involved … we had a lot of fun and games with the MGB bonnets.

The problems were certainly compounded with electrophoretic priming systems; David Collins, former MGB night shift foreman at Cowley, recalled ‘when they first put the alloy bonnets on, we had a hell of a job with paint; the cars would go into the hospital lines again and again’. In the end Pressed Steel won – but only after nine years of production. The scallops in the front wings were one of the distinctive hallmarks of the MGB (although, as explained in the next chapter, there were a few headaches caused when someone alleged copyright infringement). According to Maurice Darling, who was responsible for finishing by hand a great many of the MGB wings at Swindon over the years:

there was a seam at the bottom of the scollop; my job as a ‘straightener’ was to bring it up to panel finish; as you worked on the seam all the dust and grit came up and hit you on the side of the face, you can guess how dirty we were at the end of the shift, in fact anyone who worked there at that time will agree that the metal straighteners had one of the dirtiest jobs!

Ted Gowland claimed that a major challenge at Swindon for everyone on the MGB and MGC line was matching the outer rear panels with the inner structure:

you needed a perfect match between a number of panels, but you always tended to get a mismatch because of heat distortion. So we used to vary our techniques – either tacking at the top and welding around, or tacking at the bottom and working up. Of course you might find that the night shift were doing it completely the opposite way round to the day shift, and so at a shift change things might go haywire due to the packing in the jigs.


THE RENAULT DEBACLE

 

Don Hayter told the author how in late 1962, not long after the MGB had been launched, a letter from Renault arrived at Morris Motors alleging that MG had copied the nose design of the MGB from their Caravelle/Floride coupé and roadster. Renault said that they had registered the shape with effect from 13 July 1959 and claimed ‘ownership’ of the headlamp nacelles. According to Hayter, Renault’s agent in Paris, the intellectual property lawyers Cabinet Lavoix, were chasing this. MG showed that there were already many other similar designs, including contemporary Ferraris, and eventually Renault abandoned the case. An internal memo to MG, dated 26 November 1963, from Nuffield’s own Patent Lawyer (‘Old Man Steed’, as Hayter jokingly called him), confirmed that the matter had been dropped. Hayter references as evidence an EX205 drawing by Jim O’Neill of 28 June 1957, Hayter’s own drawing EX241/1 of 9 June 1958 and ADO23/163 (‘Quarter Scale MGB/2’) dated 1 May 1959 (see also the table above and those for EX205 and EX214 in the previous chapter).

To most rational minds, the idea that the MGB was derived from a rear-engined Renault instead of being inspired by the Ferrari 250GT America seems almost absurd – surely? However, like many good stories, there is a twist. Jim O’Neill told the author of his occasional visits to the Geneva Motor Show with Syd Enever, his direct boss at the time. In 1959 the new sporty two-door Renaults were on display; O’Neill said that Enever became quite animated whilst on the Renault stand:

he said to me – ‘this is what the MGB should be like – and there’s where we can put the grille’ – as he gesticulated towards the front of the car. The people on the stand were certainly looking very quizzically at him, wondering what he was up to – but then that was typical Syd!

When O’Neill first related this tale to the author, he produced his own photograph of the Renault on which Enever had subsequently drawn his idea in soft pencil, but at the time of our initial discussion he was reluctant to allow the image to be seen more widely.




Never seen in print before now, this is the photo that Jim O’Neill took of the Renault Floride, on which Syd Enever drew his thoughts for the future MGB grille; at the Geneva Motor Show Enever was excitedly looking at the nose of the French car and waving his arms around whilst bemused Renault officials looked on.






A superb Kodachrome image from Utah in 1957 shows EX 181 (then in two-tone blue rather than the later green finish for 1959) together with Captain George Eyston and Syd Enever. Some have maintained that this mid-engined record-breaker with a narrow rear track influenced the design of the MGB.



At our last interview before his death he relented, and as a result it is reproduced here for the first time. So one can see why, perhaps, Renault’s suspicions arose. Thereafter, John Thornley and Syd Enever often took pains to explain that the EX181 ‘Roaring Raindrop’ record-breaker was the true source of the MGB’s styling, and one may see some resemblance through squinted eyes, even if Jim O’Neill dismissed the idea as nonsense. In an interview with Wilson McComb, Roy Brocklehurst was similarly less than convinced: ‘Well, I suppose you could pick out a curve here and there – that’s a bit of poetic licence, I think!’ It is often said that truth has many faces.




CHAPTER THREE

SUPERLATIVE MGB – THE MONOCOQUE ROADSTER

Starting with pre-production cars gradually using more tooled rather than hand-made parts, trial builds graduated towards series production. At Swindon sub-assemblies were mounted on the line, pressings initially assembled with self-tapping screws before fine-tuning jigs and determining welding arrangements; similarly, early sub-assemblies were received in Coventry and final build sequences developed there too. At Abingdon, final assembly line and road-testing development also took place, with eight MGBs subjected to testing on a combination of local roads and the MIRA facilities near Nuneaton.




Unlike the slightly earlier car shown in Chapter One, this pre-production car does not have a three-part rear bumper blade.



THE THREE-BEARING MGB

As the table here shows, a dozen production-specification cars were built in May 1962, alongside the last of the MGA 1600 Mark II. Naturally, many early cars were for export, and the popular ‘launch colour’, featured in contemporary publicity material, was Iris Blue, a fashionable light-blue paint carried over from the MGA. The engine capacity was also established: the B-Series had already grown in the MGA to 1622cc, and in readiness for the big ‘Issigonis’ ADO17 saloon it was decided that the capacity should grow again.

A prototype B-Series was built and tested with a nominal 1700cc capacity, but it was recognized that the increased bore could accommodate nearly 1.8 litres, hence the 1798cc capacity. For early MGB production, the same three-bearing layout as the older car was retained; this configuration was often preferred by racers because of its greater ‘rev-ability’.




The simple, clean lines of a pre-production US-specification MGB.






The MGB was described in a Press Release from MG’s parent Nuffield Organization on 25 June 1962; this is the front page of Syd Enever’s personal copy.



The official five-page Nuffield Organization press release for the MGB carried an embargo date of 25 June 1962, with the headline ‘Carrying on a Great Name’. Alongside the inevitable specification data was the assertion that ‘about 90% of the finished MGBs will go to export’, adding that ‘since 1947 over 100,000 MG sports cars have been exported to the United States alone – 68,000 of them MGAs’. It would be another three months before the new model would be revealed to the general public, although some ‘advanced specification’ brochures would be provided for prospective customers (see Chapter Eleven).


MGB PRODUCTION CARS – THE FIRST DOZEN, MAY 1962



	Month
	Chassis Numbers



	May 1962
	
LHD: 102, 105, 109, 111, 112, 118,  RHD: 101, 318 119, 120, 126, 128



	June 1962
	103 to 256



	July 1962
	238 to 447



	August 1962
	351 to 996



	September 1962
	537 to 1737



	October 1962
	812 to 2311



	November 1962
	1439 to 3795



	December 1962
	2426 to 5138




Footnotes:

Car 102 (GHN3-102G) was the first built on 22 May 1962, an Iris Blue LHD car; Car 101 (GHN3-101G) followed on 28 May 1962. Car 318, a RHD car, was destined for ‘Development’. There were 138 MGBs built in June 1962, 181 in July, and 96 in August. Meanwhile, the last MGA 1600 Mark II left the line on 7 June 1962. By the end of 1962, 4,518 MGBs had been built, of which 2,946 (some 65.2 per cent) were export models for North America.



LONG JOURNEY: BUILDING THE ‘B’

During the pre-production planning process, there was debate about how and where parts should be built. Pressed Steel might have welcomed the entire ‘body-in-white’ process at Swindon, but there was pressure on space at a time when the ADO16 BMC 1100 was being prepared and there were other clients to contend with. Coupled with this was the political expediency (within BMC) of maintaining the relationships whereby MGA bodies were built, painted and trimmed. BMC had only recently sanctioned a new paint shop at Coventry, and the severe US recession in 1960–61 caused some consternation. Dave Nicholas of Pressed Steel confirms that, ‘initially, we didn’t have the space needed to get the whole body done at Swindon – although in due course space was freed up, which allowed a track to be put in’.

Sheet steel came in from South Wales and sections were cut and pressed in the incredibly noisy but efficient works at Swindon, a new press shop having been built in 1960. The noise travelled far, too, as Nicholas recalled:

when they were building the press shop, they ran into this huge rock seam that ran more or less diagonally out towards Stratton St Margaret, so they had to dynamite the basement out in part. We lived in Stratton, and I could tell, during the night, if the press shop was going – I could tell if the blankers were running; I could feel it … just sense it. If not I’d say to my wife ‘there’s something wrong – I can’t hear the shop.’

At Swindon pressed parts were fitted into jigs and spot-welded into sub-assemblies – the core of the MGB body-in-white, without doors, bonnet, bootlid or front wings – a unit that was to all intents and purposes identical to sub-assemblies that British Motor Heritage produced from 1989, using the assembly jigs recovered from Booth & Poole (see Chapter Thirteen). These body sub-assemblies then left Swindon with most of the welding operations completed. Archie Campbell told the author that a typical daily build was between sixty and seventy units:
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40 years its junior is M.G.’s latest model, the M.G.B.
Styles have changed but the excitement of those early sports cars
is still 1/1¢'re. because M.G.s are still made by
M.G. enthusiasts with enthusiasts like you in mind.
Try the superlative M.G.B. for real ‘Safety Fast’ motoring.
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EX REGISTER:ADO23 - EARLY WORK

Number

ADO23/44
ADO23/45
ADO23/53
ADO23/54
ADO23/72
ADO23/73
ADO23/83
ADO23/163
ADO23/221
ADO23/356 (357)
ADO23/367
ADO23/368
ADO23/370
ADO23/376
ADO23/378
ADO23/394
ADO23/400
ADO23/401
ADO23/583 (584)
ADO23/624
ADO23/712
ADO23/797
ADO23/801
ADO23/953

Date

19 March 1959
19 March 1959
15 April 1959

8 May 1959

6 July 1959

6 July 1959

30 July 1959

7 October 1959
19 November 1959
Il February 1960
14 March 1960
14 March 1960
23 March 1960

6 April 1960

7 April 1960

17 May 1960

14 June 1960

14 June 1960

2 December 1960
19 January 1961
19 April 1961

25 July 1961

26 July 1961

3 October 1962

Name of Part

Body — Front End Lines (Plan, Full Size)

Body — Front End Lines (Side and End Elevation)

Radiator Badge Assembly (Scheme only; Lucas)

Body Lines —Wide Radiator

Sill Section (Showing Welding Condition) — was EX214/9.Z
Radiator Grille Scheme (for Radiators Branch)

Scheme for Windscreen Assembly

/4 Scale Body Lines (was EX214/12)

Scheme for trunk lid assisted lift

Ist Prototype Only

Front (and Rear) Bumper Assembly

Rear Spring (Leaf — 118 Ib/in)

Rear Spring (Leaf — 99 Ib/in)

Chassis Number for No. | Prototype Car
Qutline — Side and Flasher Light

/4 Scale — Coupé Top

Motif — Radiator Grille

Rear Lower Fairing Panel — (Body Extended one inch)

Replaces L.684 on Prototype

Rear and exploded view — Leaf Spring

Panel — Facia RHD (LHD) — ‘Mark III"

Proposed 2.0- and 2.5-litre engines based on existing 2.2- and 2.6-litre engines
/4 Scale — Body Arrangement (to Pressed Steel Co. drawings)

Chassis Number — Black Car, Red Trim — Engine No. |6GA/U/2259

Chassis Number — Red Car, Black Trim

Weber 45 DCOE in MGB

No. 2 Prototype
No. 3 Prototype

The details above come from the MG EX Register, and illustrate development from soon after inception of ADO23 up to the MGB launch.Three key prototypes
are highlighted: ADO23/163, 797 and 801.The engine number of ADO23/797 indicates a |588cc MGA B-Series unit.
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EX REGISTER: EX205 ‘MG
TWO-SEATER (ADO23)’

Number Date Name of Part

EX205/I.R  Not given '/a inch Scale
Body
Arrangement

EX205/2.R 20 June 1957  Scale Body
Arrangement —
Frua Body (on
MGA Chassis)

EX205/3.R 20 June 1957  Scale Body
Arrangement
(based on the
above two)

Author Comments

The original Jim
O’Neill proposal with
a rounded nose
Drawn up by MG
Drawing Office after
measuring Frua
prototype

An amalgamation

of the two designs;
effectively the O’Neill
nose on the Frua body

The details above come from the MG EX Register. The other entries,
EX205/4 to |1 inclusive, covered details such as brake and clutch
pedals and jacking-bracket details. The last entry, EX205/1 |, was dated 3

February 1958.
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AUTOCAR, 21 SEPTEMBER, 1962 &5

Pressed Steel Com pany

are proud to be associated with the new MGB

PRESSED STEEL COMPANY LIMITED HEAD OFFICE COWLEY, OXFORD
Makers of Britain’s first production all-steel car Manufacturers also of Prestcold refiig s and
body in 1926, and have been major suppliers to the domestic appliances, ruilway rollir K, pross-

motor industry ever since. ings of all types, and executive

FACTORIES: COWLEY, OXFORD * THEALF, BERKSHIRE = PAISLEY, SCOTLAND * SWINDON, WILTSHIRE
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MORRIS MOTORS BOARD - CAPITAL APPROVALS FOR MGA AND MGB

Project Board Meeting Minute  Value Description
Code Date No.

56 8 September 1954 522 £70,000 New Project No. 56 The MG Car Company Ltd. Open
two-seater Series MGA DO 1062 —Tools £70,000

56 Il January 1956 605 £100,000 Increases to past projects: Project No. 56: MG Series
MGA; Date & Amount of Previous Authorisation (522)
8 September 1954: £70,000. Increase £100,000 — Total
Authorization £170,000
7 May 1956 £8,000 New Project: BI | MGA Coupé, addition of a fixed head to
a standard body. Tools £8,000
7 May 1958 £444,700  New Project: B20 MGB two-seater tools. Bodyshell
£330,700, sundries £37,500. MGB Coupé — bodyshell
£76,500.Total £444,700
B26 23 August 1960 880 £405,000  New Project: B26 ADO23 MGB two-seater. Bodyshell
£350,000; sundries £55,000; total £405,000

Author’s Notes

See also later increase at ‘Minute 605’

Having secured the original funding for the
MGA to be tooled, Thornley and Enever had
to seek a ‘top up’

A modest sum for the tooling of the MGA
Coupé

First entry seeking approval to tool for the
MGB; note reference to an MGB ‘coupé’

Second approval. A special ‘deal’ with
Pressed Steel overtook this

The figures for the MGA are included for comparison purposes only. The Morris Motors Board continued to function for many years after the BMC merger, although
it was effectively subservient to the main BMC Board. At the time that decisions were being made on investment for the MGB, John Thornley was reporting to the
Morris Motors Board at Cowley, chaired by Sir Leonard Lord aided by Deputy Director of Morris Motors, James Reginald (‘Jim’) Woodcock OBE (31 July 1906 — |
January 1991); even so, these major investment decisions were ratified by the BMC’s governing board at Longbridge, also chaired by Lord.The ‘B’ project code

prefix was introduced at Cowley in January 1956 and perhaps signified a new era, starting soon after Chief Designer Gerald Palmer left the organization.To put the
£405,000 quote for the MGB in context, an initial quote for the future ADO16 (1100 range) ‘B25 ADO16’ on || May 1960 totalled £941,333.
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